STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CITIZENS PROTECTING MICHIGAN'S
CONSTITUTION, JOSEPH SPYKE, and
JEANNE DAUNT,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

SECRETARY OF STATE, and MICHIGAN
BOARD OF STATE CANVASSERS,

Defendants/Cross-Defendants-
Appellees,

and

VOTERS NOT POLITICIANS BALLOT
COMMITTEE, d/b/a VOTERS NOT
POLITICIANS, COUNT MI VOTE, a
Michigan Non-Profit Corporation, d/b/a
VOTERS NOT POLITICIANS, KATHRYN A.
FAHEY, WILLIAM R. BOBIER and DAVIA
C. DOWNEY,

Intervening Defendants/Cross-Plaintiffs-
Appellees.

Supreme Court Case No. _____
Court of Appeals Case No. 343517

**PLAINTIFFS CITIZENS
PROTECTING MICHIGAN'S
CONSTITUTION, JOSEPH SPYKE
AND JEANNE DAUNT'S
EMERGENCY APPLICATION

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The VNP Proposal is a ballot question that, if adopted, would amend the Michigan Constitution by creating an “independent” redistricting commission and changing Michigan’s traditional redistricting criteria. The Proposal would add more than 3,000 words and delete more than 1,000 words in the existing Constitution. It would moreover eliminate typical checks and balances that apply to the branches of government by giving the Commission an unlimited budget, providing for removal of commissioners only by other commissioners, and preventing the courts from drawing redistricting plans even as a last resort.

CPMC requested mandamus relief in an original action in the Court of Appeals directing the Secretary and Board to reject the VNP Proposal and to take no further action to place it on the 2018 General Election ballot. The VNP Proposal abrogated and failed to republish, as required by MCL 168.482(3), four sections of the Michigan Constitution. Further, the VNP Proposal is so massive and makes changes of such a fundamental nature that it cannot be accomplished as an initiated amendment, and instead requires a constitutional convention under Const 1963, art 2, § 3.

The Court of Appeals denied CPMC’s Complaint for Mandamus. Instead, it issued a published opinion and order directing the Secretary and Board to take all necessary steps to place the VNP Proposal on the ballot.

- I. The decision of the Court of Appeals panel was contrary to binding Supreme Court precedent. Further, this matter involves significant constitutional questions that go the core of our constitutional government. Should this Court grant leave to appeal?

The Court of Appeals did not answer this question.

CPMC answers: “Yes”

- II. The Court of Appeals held that the VNP Proposal does not abrogate Const 1963, art 1, § 5, art 6, § 13, art 9, § 17, and art 11, § 1, and thus the petition circulating the Proposal did not violate MCL 168.482(3) by failing to republish those provisions. Where the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court’s precedent concerning whether an abrogation has occurred, should this Court, upon review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals?

The Court of Appeals did not answer this question.

CPMC answers: “Yes”

- III. Longstanding Michigan law precludes submission by an initiated amendment of changes that are too massive or too fundamental to the operation of state government. Such measures must be submitted to the voters only after a constitutional convention. The Court of Appeals panel misapplied this law in determining the VNP Proposal was susceptible to submission as an amendment. Upon review, should this Court reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals?

The Court of Appeals did not answer this question.

CPMC answers: “Yes”

I. INTRODUCTION AND REASONS FOR GRANTING LEAVE TO APPEAL

A. **Introductory Matters**

In this Application, Citizens Protecting Michigan’s Constitution, Jeanne Daunt, and Joseph Spyke (collectively, “CPMC”) seek review of a published decision of a panel of the Court of Appeals in which that Court denied CPMC’s request for mandamus relief. CPMC ultimately seeks mandamus relief in the form of an order directing Defendants—Secretary of State Ruth Johnson (“Secretary”) and the Board of State Canvassers (“Board”)—to reject a petition that proposes to submit a ballot question at the 2018 General Election. The proposal, in turn, is supported and sponsored by the Intervening Defendants (collectively, “VNP”).

The ballot question at issue proposes to amend the existing Constitution, among other things, to establish an “independent” redistricting commission and to revise Michigan’s longstanding, traditional redistricting criteria. (The proposal hereafter is referred to as the “VNP Proposal.”) While these two features are among the primary purposes of the VNP Proposal, the Proposal makes a multitude of other changes in service of these purposes that would fundamentally change the ordinary operation of state government. VNP does not shy away from the fundamental change envisioned by the VNP Proposal. In VNP’s own words: “The principal purpose of the Proposal is to completely take the power of redistricting away from the Legislature and the Governor, and place that power with the newly created Independent Citizens Redistricting Commission.” (Appendix B to VNP May 22 Response Brief, p. 6.)

The VNP Proposal would abrogate four sections of the existing Constitution—art 1, § 5, art 6, § 13, art 9, § 17, and art 11, § 1. Under state law, these sections had to be republished with the petition circulated in support of the VNP Proposal. MCL 168.482(3). They were not.

The Court of Appeals panel below, *in a published decision*, erred in that it found that no abrogation would occur with respect to these four provisions if the VNP Proposal were to be

adopted. It misapplied the test for abrogation as established by this Court in *Protect Our Jobs v Board of State Canvassers*, 492 Mich 763; 822 NW2d 534 (2012). The Court of Appeals panel focused on whether the changes to be made by the VNP Proposal were conceptually *possible*—but the controlling legal analysis to be applied assesses whether the changes nullify existing language such that the public should be told of the nullification in the petition. Because it applied the wrong test, the Court of Appeals panel reached the wrong conclusions.

Further, while abrogation is a narrow concept, even purportedly slight abrogations must be republished. The Court of Appeals panel did not follow this rule as established in *Protect Our Jobs. Id.* at 790-791.

The Court of Appeals panel also erred in that it found that the VNP Proposal was an appropriate initiated amendment rather than a revision that must be made by constitutional convention. Under longstanding Michigan law, an amendment is confined to a mere “correction of detail.”¹ Amendments may not include sprawling compilations of changes; and amendments may not include fundamental changes to the operation of state government. The VNP Proposal does both. Changes of such magnitude can only be made by a constitutional convention under Const 1963, art 12, § 3

The VNP Proposal represents a massive change to our Constitution. If adopted, it would—by sheer volume of words—be more than two and a half times larger than any previous amendment made to the Constitution. More important, it would also make substantive fundamental changes to the Constitution—not only in the area of redistricting, but also in establishing a commission that

¹ *Citizens Protecting Mich’s Constitution v Sec’y of State* (“*Citizens*”), 280 Mich App 273, 296; 761 NW2d 210, *aff’d* in part, appeal denied in part by 482 Mich 960 (2008) (quotations omitted).

is not subject to budget controls, laws, judicial remedies, or other checks and balances that exist between the branches in Michigan's representative democracy.

The Court of Appeals panel's decision to deny mandamus relief to CPMC was plain error. If left unaddressed by this Court, the panel's published decision will confound application of the legal principles to be applied in all future cases. It should be reversed, and the VNP Proposal should not be submitted to the voters in November.

B. Review should be granted.

This Court should grant review because the issues involved are of significant public interest and the case is one against the Secretary of State and Board of State Canvassers. See MCR 7.305(B)(2). The Court of Appeals panel, in a published decision, misapplied the controlling precedent of this Court and of the Court of Appeals. The questions at issue concern the application of this Court's jurisprudence on core questions concerning the manner in which constitutional amendments will be proposed going forward. They also include whether it is even possible under the Michigan Constitution for the changes in the VNP Proposal to be accomplished without the careful study and planning of a constitutional convention. The questions of this case include fundamental issues of: (i) who will pick our legislators and how; (ii) when and how our core governing document can be changed; and (iii) when and whether the public is to be made aware of the scope of changes to be enacted by proposed ballot initiatives when they are presented in a petition.

For these same reasons, this case involves legal principles of major significance to the state's jurisprudence. See MCR 7.305(B)(3). There are many at issue here, including the interpretation of a multitude of the provisions of the 1963 Constitution. The Court of Appeals panel adopted constructions of, for example, the right to free speech in Const 1963, art 1, § 5, or the Oath Clause in Const 1963, art 11, § 1, that diminish the protections of those constitutional

provisions. Further, the VNP Proposal, if enacted, would limit this Court's authority and discretion on issues of major political significance, and require this Court to hear, as a matter of right (and as a trial court), a broad set of challenges to redistricting plans every ten years.

Finally, review should be granted because the decision of the Court of Appeals panel plainly conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Protect Our Jobs*. See MCR 7.305(B)(5)(b). While this Court has held that even a small abrogation must be republished in a petition pursuant to MCL 168.482(3), the Court of Appeals panel decision departed forcefully from that holding, instead finding that purportedly minor and slight abrogations do not require republication.

Most important, if this Court refuses to grant leave and examine the decision of the Court of Appeals panel, the substantive constitutional issues raised herein may be foreclosed from further review if the VNP Proposal is placed on the ballot and approved by the voters.

See generally *Carman v Hare*, 384 Mich 443; 185 NW2d 1 (1971).

II. CONCISE STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

A. Material Facts

1. Parties

Plaintiff-Appellant CPMC is a duly registered ballot question committee organized for, among other things, opposing the VNP Proposal. Plaintiff-Appellant Joseph Spyke is an Ingham County resident and voter who has been a paid employee of a political candidate within the last 6 years; he would thus be precluded from serving on the redistricting commission if the VNP Proposal is adopted. (See VNP Proposal, **Exhibit 2**, art 4, § 6(1)(B)(iv).) Plaintiff-Appellant Jeanne Daunt is a Genesee County resident and voter who will be aggrieved if the VNP Proposal is adopted because the Proposal would preclude her from serving on the redistricting commission merely because she is the parent of a person otherwise disqualified. (See VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § (6)(1)(C).)

Defendant-Appellees are the Michigan Secretary of State Ruth Johnson and the Michigan Board of State Canvassers. The Secretary has overall responsibility for preparation of the ballot and submission of constitutional amendment initiatives to the voters. MCL 168.31(1)(f); MCL 168.471. The Board is responsible, among other things, for determining the sufficiency of signatures submitted in support of a petition to amend the Constitution. MCL 168.476(1).

Intervening Defendants are a ballot question committee and concerned electors who support the passage of the Voters Not Politicians Proposal.

2. Administrative History of VNP Proposal

On December 18, 2017, VNP filed the petition containing the VNP Proposal with the Secretary. Upon receipt of a petition proposing a constitutional amendment, the Board is required to “canvass the petitions to ascertain if the petitions have been signed by the requisite number of qualified and registered electors.” MCL 168.476(1). The canvass must be completed not later than two months before the election, by which time the Board is required to issue an official declaration as to the sufficiency of petitions. MCL 168.476(2); MCL 168.477(1). Here, such certification must occur no later than September 6, 2018.

CPMC sent a letter to the Secretary on April 18, 2018 advising of deficiencies in the petition used to circulate the VNP Proposal and of the VNP Proposal’s ineligibility to appear on the ballot. (See **Exhibit 3**.) The Secretary did not respond.

CPMC also filed a protest with the Board, advising that it was seeking review in the courts of the threshold question of whether the VNP Proposal was eligible to appear on the ballot. The Board, which need not act to certify questions until September 6, 2018, has not certified the VNP Proposal to date. Simultaneously with filing this Application, CMPC has requested a stay to issue from this Court on further action by the Board and Secretary while this Court considers the matters at issue.

3. The VNP Proposal

The VNP Proposal runs 7 pages of 8-point type text. (See Ex 2.) It would make multiple changes to the existing Constitution, but chief among these is the transfer of authority over the decennial task of apportionment of the districts used to elect members of the Michigan House, Senate, and U.S. Congressional delegation. Redistricting authority would be transferred from the Legislature, Governor, and Courts to a new (purportedly) independent redistricting commission made up of 13 electors. In place of the current constitutional mandatory redistricting criteria that district lines are to follow county and municipal borders, the VNP Proposal would substitute a list of new, non-binding criteria. After compliance with federal law and contiguity are considered, the next criterion for consideration by the commission is that “districts shall reflect the state’s diverse population and communities of interest,” which term is to include, but not be limited to, “populations that share cultural or historical characteristics or economic interests.” (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(13)(C).)

Other elements of the VNP Proposal include, but are not limited to:

- **Commission Creation.** Establishment of the redistricting commission in the Legislature, though location in the Legislature is nominal only as: (i) the proposed commission will not be elected by the People or by members of the Legislature, (ii) its members will not be subject to removal or budget control by the Legislature, and (iii) the commissioners will be selected by and advised by the Secretary of State rather than the Legislature. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(1), (2).)
- **Qualifications.** Establishment of qualifications for the commissioners, including that commissioners may not be candidates, officials, members of national, state, or local political parties, paid consultants or employees of officials or candidates, lobbyists, or unclassified state employees, or the family member of such a person, or have been an officeholder in the previous five years. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(1).)
- **Selection by Secretary.** Delineation of a detailed selection process to be implemented by the Secretary of State to create the commission on a decennial basis, including that applicants to the commission must subscribe to application forms and swear under oath that they (as a matter of subjective assessment) affiliate with Democrats, Republicans, or consider themselves to be non-affiliating. The

Secretary is then to draw “randomly” from the pool of applicants four self-identifying Democrats, four self-identifying Republicans, and five self-identifying non-affiliating voters (which would ostensibly include members of the Green Party, Libertarians, Freedom Party, Socialists, as well as “moderate” voters who do not identify with any party) (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(2).)

- **Pool Criteria to be set by Secretary.** The “random” selection by the Secretary, however, is subject to the requirement that the “Secretary . . . use accepted statistical weighting methods to ensure that the pools, as closely as possible, mirror the geographic and demographic makeup of the state.” (As there are a multitude of demographic factors—*e.g.*, gender, sex, race, income, union membership, military service, age, disability, profession—the Secretary, a partisan-elected official, will have broad discretion as to fashioning the pool of applicants from which members will be drawn.) (*Id.*)
- **Removal process.** Absent death, resignation, infirmity, or failure to satisfy criteria listed in the VNP Proposal, commissioners may only be removed for conviction of a crime involving dishonesty related to their office, or after at least 10 of the other 12 commission members vote to expel the member. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(3).)
- **Appropriation and Indemnification.** The Legislature will be required to appropriate an amount “equal to not less than 25 percent of the general fund/general purpose budget for the Secretary” for the fiscal year to support the redistricting commission’s activities. If the amount appropriated is not enough to cover the commission’s cost or the Legislature fails to make the appropriation, the state of Michigan “shall indemnify commissioners for costs incurred.” (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(5).)
- **Public Meetings; No Other Public Communication.** The Commission must hold ten public meetings before beginning to draft plans, and an additional five meetings after it drafts any plan. The Commissioners, their staff, lawyers, and consultants “shall not discuss redistricting matters with members of the public outside of an open meeting of the commission,” except that a commission member may communicate in writing to gain information relevant to the performance of his or her duties. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(8)-(11).)
- **Establishment of Criteria.** In addition to the incomprehensible and undefined “communities of interest” criterion as noted above, the VNP Proposal would direct the commission to “abide by” the following criteria in order of priority (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(13)):
 - Districts shall not provide a “disproportionate advantage” to any political party, which is to be determined using “accepted measures of partisan fairness.” (There are no such “accepted measures of partisan fairness” presently recognized by Michigan courts or the Supreme Court of the United States. Nor is it plain whether a district would be considered

“disproportionate” if not balanced 50-50; or how voter models are to be selected, or applied, since Michigan voters do not register by party, and since voter trends and populations shift over time and from election to election).

- Districts shall not “favor or disfavor” an incumbent elected official or candidate. (What that means is not plain. *E.g.*, preserving the core of an existing district in a new map could be seen as “favoring” an incumbent; but choosing the opposite could be seen as “disfavoring” an incumbent, meaning either choice would be in tension with the criteria.)
- Districts shall “reflect consideration” of (but not necessarily follow as is currently required) county, city and township boundaries.
- Districts shall be reasonably compact.
- **Nondiscretionary Supreme Court Original Jurisdiction.** The Supreme Court shall be required to review any and all challenges to plans adopted by the commission in every instance as a trial court, but will have no ability to order a final plan into place. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(19).)
- **Employer Constraints.** Private and public employers of commission members may not discharge or retaliate against employees because of their membership on the commission or their attendance at any of the commission’s meetings (which meetings are not limited in number). (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(21).)
- **No Legislative or Executive Branch Control.** The VNP Proposal states that the commission, its members, and staff are not subject to control or approval of the Legislature or the Executive Branch. (VNP Proposal, Ex 2, art 4, § 6(22), and art 5, § 2.) The Governor cannot remove commissioners, and cannot veto the commission’s budgets. (*Id.*)

B. Proceedings at the Court of Appeals

CPMC filed its Complaint for Mandamus and initial Brief in Support with the Court of Appeals panel on April 25, 2018.

VNP moved to intervene on May 10, and the Court of Appeals panel granted the motion on May 11. Upon intervening, VNP filed a Cross-Claim against the Defendant Board and Secretary seeking a writ of mandamus directing the Board and Secretary to place the VNP Proposal on the 2018 General Election ballot.

Pursuant to MCR 7.206(D)(2), in the ordinary course, parties have 21 days to file responses to briefs filed in support of complaints for mandamus. MCR 7.206(D)(4) also provides that a court may peremptorily deny relief, grant relief, or order the parties to proceed to a full hearing with additional briefing.

Though the statutory deadline in this case is not until September 6, 2018—and the courts have authority to extend that deadline if necessary—the Court of Appeals panel *sua sponte* expedited its consideration of CPMC’s Complaint and VNP’s Cross-Claim. On May 11, the Court of Appeals panel ordered that all answers to the Complaint and Cross-Claim were due May 22, that VNP’s Brief in Support of its Cross-Claim was due May 22, and that CPMC would then have 9 days—until 1:00 p.m. on May 31—to file a response. Though both CPMC and VNP requested oral argument, the Court of Appeals denied that request, stating it would peremptorily decide the motions on the initial briefs alone.

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