STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CITIZENS PROTECTING MICHIGAN'S
CONSTITUTION, JOSEPH SPYKE AND
JEANNE DAUNT,

Plaintiffs,

v

SECRETARY OF STATE AND MICHIGAN
BOARD OF STATE CANVASSERS,

Michigan Court of Appeals
No. 343517

Defendants/Cross-Defendants,
and

VOTERS NOT POLITICIANS BALLOT
COMMITTEE, d/b/a VOTERS NOT
POLITICIANS, COUNT MI VOTE, a
Michigan Non-Profit Corporation, d/b/a
VOTERS NOT POLITICIANS, KATHRYN A.
FAHEY, WILLIAM R. BOBIER and DAVIA C.
DOWNEY,

Intervening Defendants/Cross-Plaintiffs,
_____ /

**BRIEF OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE AND BOARD OF CANVASSERS
IN RESPONSE TO COMPLAINT FOR MANDAMUS**

B. Eric Restuccia (P49550)
Chief Legal Counsel

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Board of Canvassers does not have a position on the question whether Plaintiffs are entitled to a writ of mandamus.

While the Board ultimately has a legal duty to make a declaration as to the sufficiency of VNP's petition, at this time it is unclear whether the Board has a duty to declare that petition sufficient or insufficient.

A. The Secretary's role in the initiative petition process is limited.

CPMC has sued the Secretary of State, but the role of the Secretary with respect to the acceptance of initiative petitions for the general election ballot is limited. *Citizens Protecting Michigan's Constitution v Sec'y of State*, 280 Mich App 273, 286 (2008), *aff'd in result*, 482 Mich 960 (2008). The Secretary of State prescribes the format of petitions that will be circulated countywide. The Secretary then acts as the filing official to receive petitions for referendum, initiative, and constitutional amendment. The first task attendant to the Secretary's office is to "immediately" notify the Board, by first-class mail, upon the filing of any signed petition. *Id.* (citing MCL 168.475 (1)). The action of notifying the Board is solely a ministerial function that does not allow the exercise of discretion to determine whether the constitutional prerequisites are met. At that juncture, absent a court order, there is no clear legal duty imposed on the Secretary of State to take any further action with respect to an initiative petition. If the Board certifies the sufficiency of the petition and approves the statement of purpose, the Secretary then certifies the ballot statement of purpose to the locals, MCL 168.648, and communicates the ballot wording to the media. MCL 168.477(2); MCL 168.480.

RECEIVED by MCOA 5/22/2018 4:35:11 PM

B. The role of the Board of Canvassers is also limited, and it has yet to meet in this matter.

The Board is a constitutional board created by Const 1963, art 2, § 7, and its duties and responsibilities are established by law. See MCL 168.22(2) and MCL 168.841. The Legislature has empowered the Board to enforce the technical requirements set forth in the Michigan Election Law, 168.1, *et seq.*, relating to the circulation and form of various petitions, including petitions to amend the Constitution.

This Court has explained that the Board’s authority with respect to petitions to amend the constitution is limited to that entrusted the Board by statute or Constitution:

The Board comes within the definition of an “agency” in the Administrative Procedures Act. An agency has no inherent power. Any authority it may have is vested by the Legislature, in statutes, or by the Constitution. [*Citizens for Protection of Marriage v Bd of State Canvassers*, 263 Mich App 487, 493 (2004) (emphasis added; internal citations omitted) .]

And with respect to petitions, generally the Board’s “duty . . . is limited to determining the sufficiency of a petition’s form and content and whether there are sufficient signatures to warrant certification. *Stand Up for Democracy v Sec’y of State*, 492 Mich 588, 618 (2012).

These duties are ministerial in nature, and in reviewing a petition the Board may not examine questions regarding the merits or substance of a proposal. *Leininger v Secretary of State*, 316 Mich 644, 655-656 (1947). See also *Gillis v Bd of State Canvassers*, 453 Mich 881 (1996); *Automobile Club of Michigan Committee for Lower Rates Now v Secretary of State (On Remand)*, 195 Mich App 613, 624 (1992)

("[T]he Board of State Canvassers possesses the authority to consider questions of form."). And in performing its function, the Board may not look beyond the four corners of the petition. *Michigan Civil Rights Initiative v Bd of State Canvassers*, 268 Mich App 506, 519-520 (2005).

With respect to the Board's duties, the Michigan Constitution provides:

Amendments may be proposed to this constitution by petition of the registered electors of this state. Every petition shall include the full text of the proposed amendment, and be signed by registered electors of the state equal in number to at least 10 percent of the total vote cast for all candidates for governor at the last preceding general election at which a governor was elected. . . . Any such petition shall be in the form, and shall be signed and circulated in such manner, as prescribed by law. *The person authorized by law to receive such petition shall upon its receipt determine, as provided by law, the validity and sufficiency of the signatures on the petition, and make an official announcement thereof at least 60 days prior to the election at which the proposed amendment is to be voted upon.* [Const 1963, art 12, § 2 (emphasis added).]

The "person authorized by law" in art 12, § 2 is the Board of Canvassers.

MCL 168.474. The Legislature implemented art 12, § 2 in part in MCL 168.476, which provides that "[u]pon receiving notification of the filing of the petitions, the board of state canvassers shall canvass the petitions to ascertain if *the petitions have been signed by the requisite number of qualified and registered electors.*" (Emphasis added). Finally, MCL 168.477(1) provides that "[t]he board of state canvassers shall make an official declaration of the sufficiency or insufficiency of a petition under this chapter at least 2 months before the election at which the proposal is to be submitted."

RECEIVED by MCOA 5/22/2018 4:35:11 PM

The Board's duties with respect to VNP's petition is two-fold. First, under MCL 168.476(1), the Board must canvass the petition to ascertain if the petition has been signed by the requisite number of qualified and registered voters. Second, under MCL 168.477(1), the Board "*shall* make an official declaration of the sufficiency or insufficiency of a petition under this chapter at least 2 months before the election at which the proposal is to be submitted." MCL 168.477(1) (emphasis added). The determination regarding the "sufficiency" of a petition includes whether the form of the petition complies with the relevant technical requirements.⁸ Essentially, the Board determines whether the petition has enough valid signatures, and whether the petition is in the proper form.

In conducting this review, the Board is empowered to "hold hearings upon any complaints filed or for any purpose considered necessary by the board to conduct investigations of the petitions." MCL 168.476(2). However, this investigatory power has been confined to the Board's duties of determining whether there are sufficient signatures, and whether the petition is in proper form. See *Michigan Civil Rights Initiative v Board of State Canvassers*, 268 Mich App 506, 516 (2005). In this case, there is no challenge as to whether the petition has

⁸ The statutes actually provide for the Board's review of the petitions after they have been circulated and signatures obtained. See MCL 168.475; 168.476; 168.477. But as noted above, for many years the Board has provided the service of allowing persons or organizations circulating petitions to come before the Board and obtain pre-approval as to the form of their petitions before they are circulated. VNP took advantage of this service.

sufficient valid signatures, but rather whether the petition appears in the proper form.

The preparation and circulation of initiative petitions to amend the Constitution is provided by law. Under MCL 168.482(1) and (2), a petition must be printed on 8 ½ x 14 inch paper, and the “heading” of “INITIATIVE PETITION AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION” must appear on each part of the petition and “shall be . . . printed in capital letters in 14-point boldfaced type.”

Under subsection 482(3):

The full text of the amendment so proposed shall follow and be printed in 8-point type. *If the proposal would alter or abrogate an existing provision of the constitution, the petition shall so state and the provisions to be altered or abrogated shall be inserted, preceded by the words:*

“Provisions of existing constitution altered or abrogated by the proposal if adopted.” [Emphasis added.]⁹

The petition must then include a statement by the electors and a warning to the electors regarding the consequences of signing a petition more than once, or signing another individual’s name, etc. MCL 168.482(4) and (5). “The remainder of the petition form shall be as provided following the warning . . . in section 544c(1),” and “shall comply with the requirements of section 544c(2).” MCL 168.482(6).

⁹ Const 1963, art 12, § 2 similarly requires that:

Any amendment proposed by such petition shall be submitted, not less than 120 days after it was filed, to the electors at the next general election. Such proposed amendment, *existing provisions of the constitution which would be altered or abrogated thereby*, and the question as it shall appear on the ballot shall be published in full as provided by law. . . . [Emphasis added.]

Sections 544c(1) and (2) impose additional formatting requirements relating to information required from electors and the certificate of the circulator. MCL 168.544c(1)-(2). The Secretary of State has prescribed the format of petitions, MCL 168.544d, and VNP utilized that format.¹⁰

The Board has not yet met to complete the canvass, address CPMC’s challenge, or vote upon the sufficiency of VNP’s petition. Ordinarily, the Board would object to a request for mandamus relief where the legal duties owed are unclear.¹¹ The Board, however, is aware of precedent from this Court and the Michigan Supreme Court determining that “threshold” legal questions affecting ballot eligibility may be considered in the mandamus context, with the decision on the legal question resolving the legal duty of the Board. See, e.g., *Protect Our Jobs v Board of State Canvassers*, 492 Mich 763, 791-792 (2012); *Michigan United Conservation Clubs v Secretary of State*, 463 Mich 1009 (2001); *Citizens Protecting Michigan’s Constitution*, 280 Mich App at 285-291.

While the appellate courts have addressed an argument that a proposal to amend the Constitution was defective because it constituted an improper general

¹⁰ See Secretary of State’s instructions and prescribed format for initiative and referendum petitions http://www.michigan.gov/documents/sos/Ini_Ref_Pet_Website_339487_7.pdf.

¹¹ The Secretary of State, however, objects to an order of mandamus as to her since the only duty she has remaining is to certify the ballot to the counties by September 7, 2018. MCL 168.480. This act would come after any certification by the Board of Canvassers, and the Secretary will act in accordance with the declaration made by the Board pursuant to this Court’s order. There is no need to compel her to perform her duty through an order of mandamus.

revision under Const 1963, art 12, § 3, these decisions do not address the Board's role as a ministerial body.

In *Citizens Protecting Michigan's Constitution*, 280 Mich App 273, affirmed in part, 482 Mich 960 (2008), this Court concluded that the Reform Michigan Government Now petition was an improper attempt to generally revise the Constitution, rather than a permissible amendment under art 12, § 2. *Id.* at 305-307. Accordingly, the Court issued mandamus relief ordering the Secretary of State and the Board to reject the petition. *Id.* But on appeal, the Michigan Supreme Court affirmed only the result of the Court of Appeals' decision, not the rationale. 482 Mich 960. Significantly, these decisions examined the issue as a constitutional question, and not a question as to form for purposes of Board review.

With respect to the alter or abrogate argument, the Michigan Supreme Court reaffirmed in *Protect Our Jobs* that “an existing provision is only ‘altered or abrogated if the proposed amendment would add to, delete from, or change the existing wording of the provision, or would render it wholly inoperative.’” Furthermore, the phrase ‘the existing wording’ refers to the actual text of an existing constitutional provision.” 492 Mich at 781 (footnotes omitted). The Court thereafter elaborated further as to the meaning of the words “alter” and “abrogate.” *Id.* at 781-782. In approving VNP's petition as to form in August 2017, the Bureau and the Board were mindful of the Supreme Court's guidance in *Protect Our Jobs*. But ultimately the Board did not approve as to form that the form of VNP's petition identified all provisions of the Constitution that would be altered or abrogated by

RECEIVED by MCOA 5/22/2018 4:35:11 PM

the amendment if passed. (Ex. 1, p 43-46). Ostensibly, the Board left that question for another day, and in fact, CPMC raised it in its April 25 challenge. However, by filing its complaint for mandamus before the Board acted, CPMC has placed this quasi-legal question as to form squarely before this Court.

C. Regarding the timing of this Court’s decision, the Board of Canvassers must complete its canvass two months in advance of the election.

As noted above, the Board must complete its canvass of VNP’s petition and declare the petition sufficient or insufficient by September 6, 2018. Const 1963, art 12, § 2, MCL 168.476(2), 168.477(1). The Secretary of State must thereafter certify the question to county clerks by September 7, 2018. MCL 168.480. Before the Secretary of State can certify the question, however, ballot language must be drafted and approved. The Michigan Constitution requires with respect to petitions to amend the Constitution that:

The ballot to be used in such election shall contain a statement of the purpose of the proposed amendment, expressed in not more than 100 words, exclusive of caption. Such statement of purpose . . . shall consist of a true and impartial statement of the purpose of the amendment in such language as shall create no prejudice for or against the proposed amendment.” [Const 1963, art 12 § 2.]

MCL 168.32(2) clarifies that the duty to prepare the statement of purpose lies with the Director of Elections,¹² and provides, in part:

The director of elections, with the approval of the state board of canvassers, shall prepare a statement for designation on the ballot in

¹² MCL 168.32(1) provides that “[t]he director of elections shall be vested with the powers and shall perform the duties of the secretary of state under his or her supervision, with respect to the supervision and administration of the election laws.”

not more than 100 words, exclusive of caption, of the purpose of any proposed amendment or question to be submitted to the electors as required under section 9 of article II, section 34 of article IV, or section 1 or 2 of article XII of the state constitution of 1963.

MCL 168.485, in turn, describes how the wording should be prepared.

Because the Director of Elections will require time to draft ballot language, and have that language approved by the Board, Defendants respectfully request that this Court issue its decision in this matter promptly, so that any subsequent appeals to the Michigan Supreme Court may be concluded by the middle of August. This timeframe will help ensure sufficient opportunity to draft language, which includes opportunities for public comment by interested persons. It is also possible that the ballot language itself will result in litigation, see, e.g., *Citizens for Protection of Marriage v Board of State Canvassers*, 263 Mich App 487 (2004), so an August deadline will help ensure that all processes can be completed in a timely matter should VNP's petition be declared sufficient.

RECEIVED by MCOA 5/22/2018 4:35:11 PM

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

The Board acknowledges that it has a legal duty to issue an official declaration of the sufficiency or insufficiency of Intervening Defendant VNP’s petition. The Board will abide by any order this Court issues regarding the sufficiency of the petition.